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Croes Robert Wood SO 476 059 
Croes Robert Wood is an ancient semi-natural woodland within the parish of Cwmcarvan. Croes Robert means ‘Robert’s cross’ but could also mean ‘Robert’s crossroads’.  There are other examples of crosses called Croes Robert, and one is known to have been at Llanover.
   There are other crosses associated with Cwmcarvan. At St. Catwg’s Church (SO 477 074) there is an impressive churchyard cross with five steps, and 200 yards north of Lower Cwm Farm (SO 479 070), fixed in the bank of an old lane there was a rough stone with a socket for a shaft.
  If there was a cross near Croes Robert Wood it was likely to be a wayside cross, which was normally intended as a road marker. Wayside crosses were also used on pilgrim routes and as boundary markers.
 
The reason for the use of the name Robert is not known. It could be a landowner or an important lord, such as Robert, earl of Gloucester, who acquired the Lordship of Usk and Trellech (which includes Cwmcarvan) after the Norman Conquest. Alternatively it could be named after a saint, such Robert of Molemes, one of the founders of the Cistercian order of monks. More likely it was named after a local person, who is now forgotten.

Cwmcarvan means ‘Valley of Carfan’, and Cwmcarvan lies in the valley of the little river Carfan (a tributary of the Trothy). Carfan may have been a personal name or possibly a descriptive word of uncertain meaning, used in some technical sense such as a geographical feature or boundary.
   
Geology
Cwmcarvan lies to the west of the Trellech Ridge which consists of Old Red Sandstone. Here the plateau falls steeply into a lower landscape of rolling hills. Croes Robert Wood lies on a steep slope of the Carfan Valley, where the soil is clay with a subsoil of marl.
Early History
Cwmcarvan is part of the Lordship of Trellech.  It is first recorded as Concauvern in about 1160 when Nicholas, bishop of Llandaff, confirmed to the monastery of Lire “benefits they are known to have had from ancient times in his bishopric”. These included “half of the tithes of all things from the lordship of Troi (Trellech), of Concauvern”.
 In 1322 the church was documented as a chapel of Mitchel Troy.
  An inquisition in1307 records there were 121 villeins and 18 unspecified tenants holding 824 acres in Cwmcarvan.
 A mill was recorded at Cwmcarvan in the same document.
Cwmcarvan is remembered as the scene of a battle at Craig-y-dorth, in the north of the parish, but there is some confusion over when it took place and exactly what happened. The only account of it appears in the Annals of Owen Glyn Dwr which was written by Gruffydd Hiraethog in the middle of the 16th century and he copied it from an earlier Welsh chronicle of 1422.  According to this account: 

“In the same year (1404) was the slaughter of the Welsh on Campstone Hill (near Grosmont Castle), and another of the English at Craig y Dorth, between Penclawdd and Monmouth town. Here the more part of the English were slain and they were chased up to the town gate.” 
However there is a question over some of the dates in the Annals. What appears to have happened is that in 1405 forces loyal to Owain Glyndwr attacked Grosmont and burnt part of the town. A smaller English force controlled by Prince Henry (the future Henry V) relieved the castle and scattered the Welsh. In turn the Welsh forces rallied and pushed Prince Henry back to Monmouth.  In the encounter at Craig-y-dorth it is possible that the English baggage train was captured by the Welsh.
 
Cwmcarvan has a similar history to the rest of the Lordship of Trellech. It was acquired by the Herbert family in the 16th century. In the 18th century manor of Cwmcarvan was acquired by the dukes of Beaufort who retained land there until the break-up of the Beaufort estates in the early 20th century.
Croes Robert Wood – Early History
Little is known about the early history of Croes Robert.  It would be tempting to think that the wood was named after Croes Robert Farm, and Kelly’s directories for 1884, 1891 and 1901 for Cwmcarvan list William Morgan, farmer, of ‘Cross Robert’. Also a building on the road to Trellech, just east of the reserve (at the top of Lower Cwm-bychan Wood), is still called ‘Croes Robert’ [SO 484 058]. This building is also marked ‘Croes Robert’ on the 1886 Ordnance Survey map. It is just within the parish of Cwmcarvan and a boundary stone is shown there, marking the parish boundary with Trellech.

However during this survey no earlier references were discovered to ‘Croes Robert’ in Cwmcarvan, although there is a reference to a mansion and estate at Cwm-bychan in 1761. This was conveyed by Stephen Comyn of Lincoln’s Inn, esq., to George Catchmayd of Monmouth, gentleman. At that time it was in the possession of Richard Jones of Dingestow, esq.  In 1841 Cwm-bychan (the name meaning ‘little valley’) was sold to James Richards.
  This is confirmed by the 1843 tithe apportionment when the wood and a cottage with a garden (the house now called ‘Croes Robert’) were owned by James Richards, Esq.
  The cottage and garden, with arable and grass land of 4 acres and 3 roods were occupied by Philip Probert.
The problem is that there is no reference in the Cwmcarvan tithe apportionment to the name ‘Croes Robert’, and the area of the present ‘Croes Robert Wood’ has a separate ownership to that of Cwm-bychan.  The bulk of the present Croes Robert Wood, covering 39 acres 2 roods and 1 perch, is numbered 457 on the 1843 tithe map and the owners are given as Henry Morgan Clifford and Tudor Thomas. A tiny section of the Croes Robert Wood reserve, to the very west, was part of no. 480 on the tithe map.  No.480 is described as grass land of 1 acre and 2 roods, owned by Henry, duke of Beaufort, and occupied by William Rogers. Rogers also had a tenancy of a nearby cottage and arable field of 1 acre from the duke.   
On the other hand there is a reference to a farm called ‘Cross Robert’ in the 1845 tithe apportionment for Trellech.  This ‘Cross Robert’ was not far from Croes Robert Wood, but on the south side of the road to Trellech, and is now called New Barn (SO 491 057). The name New Barn is also shown on the 1902 Ordnance Survey map. The connection is that the tithe apportionment shows that the owners were Henry Morgan Clifford and Tudor Thomas, who also owned a considerable amount of land in Cwmcarvan, including what is now Croes Robert Wood. Cross Robert Farm, Trellech was a mainly arable farm of over 86 acres, and the tenant farmer was James Williams.
Henry Morgan Clifford was for many years a prominent figure in Herefordshire and Monmouthshire, and was M.P. for Hereford from 1847 to 1865. He was appointed lieutenant-colonel commanding the Royal Monmouthshire Light Infantry Militia in 1847 and he owned many farms and other property in the area, including the Argoed at Penallt. He died in 1884.

On the 11th. November 1856 about 1,410 acres of the Clifford estates in Monmouthshire and Herefordshire were put up for auction in London.
 These estates included the Cross Robert Farm in Trellech, and the Upper Cwm Farm plus the wood that was to become Croes Robert Wood in Cwmcarvan.
The ‘Cross Robert Farm’ was described as “A small compact farm with a homestead. It comprises about 87 acre, of which 58 acres are arable, in the occupation of Mr James Williams.”

The present Croes Robert Wood (but not called that in the catalogue) and three small pasture fields above it are listed as:

 “An Extensive WOOD, with strips of Rough PASTURE LAND, adjoining the Road.
The Wood is an Excellent GAME PRESERVE, and well stored with Young OAK, ASH, and other TREES, and good UNDERWOOD, containing as follows:-

457 on the plan.   Wood (in hand)                               39 acres.  2 roods   1 perch.

458, 459, 460 on the plan.    Strips of Pasture               4 acres.  3 roods. 25 perches.”

 From this it is clear that although the name ‘Croes Robert’ or ‘Cross Robert’ may have been in use in the area for a long time it did not apply to the Croes Robert Wood until after 1856. The name was almost certainly transferred over after the sale.  There is therefore no cross directly associated with the wood, but it may be an area of research to see if a wayside cross was once located at New Barn, Trellech.
Croes Robert Wood – Later History
There is an unusually large collection of title deeds relating to Croes Robert Wood in the 20th century.

On the 11th August 1902 a settlement was made before the impending marriage of the Reverend William Armstrong Willis with Katherine Fanny Owles, conveying Upper Cwm Farm to a trust.  Upper Cwm Farm had been inherited by the Reverend Willis and was “formerly in the occupation of Davies as tenant, and with several coppice woods to the same farm adjoining”. In all over 150 acres were involved. The trust was to secure a loan of £700 from Charles Owles, presumably a relative of Katherine Fanny Owles. The land was ’copyhold’ and entered in the Court Rolls of the Manor of Usk. 
The Reverend Willis died on 7th June 1912 and Katherine Fanny Willis inherited her husband’s estates.  In 1919 an enfranchisement deed between The Right Honourable George Fitzroy Baron Raglan and Katherine Fanny Willis made the property freehold. On 11th January 1928 the property was vested in Katherine Fanny as “tenant for life” and a schedule of land specifically mentions a “piece or parcel of woodland known as Croes Robert Wood containing 30 acres and 11 perches”.
On the 5th February 1929 Katherine Fanny Willis of St Johns, Glendawr Street in the Borough of Monmouth and the trustees (including George Hughlings Armstrong Willis) sold Croes Roberts Wood to Willie Ponsford, a Newport merchant, for £210. Ponsford clearly had a head for business because 23 days later, on 28th February 1929, he resold Croes Robert Wood for £500 to Gabriel Bernhaw Tobiassen of Sunnybank, Pentyrch in the County of Glamorgan, timber merchant. 
Tobiassen received a £200 mortgage towards the purchase from John Hibbert Jones of Kenley, Surrey, but fell into arrears and sold Croes Robert Wood to Jones. In 1930 Jones split the wood into four sections, and sold on a section of the central part and the eastern end of the wood (approximately 22¼ acres) to Mr Herbert Henry Phillips, a printer of Bristol. The western end of the wood (approximately 10 acres) was sold by Jones to Alfred James of Ammanford, Carmarthen, who was described as a railwayman. The remaining central area (approximately 7 acres) was sold to Mr Thomas George Hobbs of Ystrad Mynach, a boot maker and repairer.
It was Alfred James who built a two roomed bungalow, made with corrugated metal walls and a corrugated metal roof, in the wood. This can still be seen in dilapidated condition on the slope, next to the present entrance of Croes Robert Wood. The steps down to the hut are now completely overgrown and it is not known when it was finally abandoned, but possibly in 1941. It was called Milford Bungalow and even in the 1970s’ the deeds refer to “the hut or bungalow known as Milford Bungalow”.

Herbert Henry Phillips was keen to acquire other sections of the wood. On 3rd March 1931 Alfred James of Milford Bungalow, Croes Robert, sold part of his land to Phillips. Alfred James died on 30th January 1941 and Milford Bungalow was inherited by his widow Sarah Elizabeth James. She sold the rest of the land and Milford Bungalow to Phillips. Since in 1935 Phillips had already acquired the land belonging to Thomas George Hobbs, Croes Robert Wood came back into single ownership. 
Herbert Henry Phillips died on 6th. May 1960 and his son, Henry Stephen Phillips, inherited the property. On 15th January 1970 he conveyed the wood to Afforestation Facilities Ltd., of London.  In 1971 they leased the wood with felling rights to Mabel Heywood of Church Eaton, Staffordshire.  In 1972 they leased the felling rights with a tenancy to Dorothy Gladys Pryke of Virginia Water, Surrey. Afforestation sold the wood to Peter Richardson Perkins, of Eastcombe, near Stroud, and Raymond Evered Woodhouse of Wotton-under-Edge, Gloucestershire, on 19th September 1975.  

In 1976 a small triangular shaped piece of land of 0.478 of an acre, at the extreme west of the reserve (numbered on the Ordnance Survey 894), was acquired by Raymond Evered  Woodhouse and Peter Richardson Perkins from David John Rogers and Elsie Mary Rogers of Llanwinney, Llangovan near Monmouth. David John Rogers testified to the fact that the land, with adjacent property, had been acquired freehold by his grandfather in 1902 from the estates of the duke of Beaufort. He said that the land had been used by his family for “fire wood and hedge blocking”.   
On 24th May 1979 the extended wood was sold to the Atlantic and Caribbean Trust SA, who were based in Panama. A company called Cotswold Woodlands managed the wood for the Atlantic and Caribbean Trust. Interestingly Raymond Evered Woodhouse, one of the former owners of Croes Robert Wood, was a director of Cotswold Woodlands Ltd.  In 1981 Atlantic and Caribbean sold Croes Robert Wood to Mr R.A.E. Herbert of Llanover. In 1986 Croes Robert Wood was acquired by the Gwent Trust for Nature Conservation, now the Gwent Wildlife Trust.  In 1982, before the purchase by the Trust, the wood had been clear-felled. It has now regrown into coppiced woodland.
Charcoal burning.
The wood is currently used by the Trust for charcoal burning. To the north of the reserve is a farm called Cwm-Collier. The term ‘collier’ was used for a charcoal burner, as well as for a coal miner.
 There is no doubt that charcoal burning has been traditionally carried out in the area, even though there are no specific references to it taking place in Croes Robert Wood.
Between 1753 and 1755 a Swedish industrial spy called R.R. Angerstein travelled through South Wales, the Forest of Dean and other parts of England.  He made a record of charcoal burning at that time.
“The woods consist of oak, plane, birch etc and are first felled and placed in piles for drying for some time.  …  The wood is sorted into ‘worst’ (i.e. piles) 4 feet long and 4 feet high.  … Sixteen ‘worst’ are stacked on end to make the stack and in the middle a pole is placed.

When the stack has been completed and covered, the pole is removed and a fire is set in the hole to start the burning. The stack is first covered with twigs and small tree-branches on the outside and then finally with turf.
The diameter is generally 8 feet to 10 feet and the burning takes eight to nine days.

… The actual work is done by the so-called ‘Colliers’, who throughout the year do nothing else.”
 

Charcoal was used extensively in the iron industry found in the area, as well as in furnaces, forges and wireworks. Certainly in both the medieval and post-medieval period there was an important iron industry in Trellech - as well as the iron industry in the west of the county and also in the Forest of Dean. As branch-wood was the most convenient material for charcoal burning the industry encouraged the practice of coppicing. The measure for a stack of round or cleft wood was a ‘cord’. However there were widely divergent cord sizes, which make it difficult to assess the amount of wood or charcoal required to produce iron.

In 1705 John Hanbury noted that the old woods had almost all been cut, but that coppice woods were in general carefully managed because of the good returns from cordwood for charcoal manufacture. Coppice was normally cut on a rotation of 16 or 17 years.
 
During the eighteenth century there was an increasing use of coke from coal and this caused the charcoal industry to decline and eventually to collapse. In addition commercial “wood distillation”, in the Forest of Dean, hastened the end of traditional charcoal burning.

Croes Robert Wood 
The wood is on a north facing slope on the valley side.  Near the top entrance is a plaque dedicated to the memory of John Arthur Sowerbutts, 1934- 1984. He was a director of the Tinplate Group of British Steel plc., and donations from his colleagues, family and friends have helped to maintain the reserve.

To the left of the main entrance the tin roof of Milford Bungalow can just be seen, but it is virtually inaccessible, and in any case is in a serious state of collapse.  There is a long track (the ‘top track’) cut into the slope, descending past a solitary yew tree, down the slope to the modern charcoal kilns at the eastern end of the wood.  According to the deeds the main means of access was along the top edge of the reserve so this track could be in part relatively old and in part more modern. There are various side tracks and loop tracks on the reserve.
The reserve is bisected by a series of springs and streams forming natural gullies.  A map in the deeds (dated 1931) shows a well in a pasture field above the reserve, about a third of the way down the top track. A stream leads from the well through the reserve, via the “pond”.
At the top end of the reserve there is evidence of old coppiced hedges, between the wood and the pasture field, but further down the hedges give way to the remains of dry stone walls.  About half way down the top track there is a possible stone quarry, about 18 metres across, cut into the rock face.  A stream goes through the ‘quarry’, across the top track and down the slope through the wood.  The track circles around the modern charcoal kilns at its bottom end. 

By the charcoal kilns the track divides. The ‘middle track’ goes up the slope roughly parallel to the top track until it reaches the second entrance, just below the first entrance gate.
The ‘bottom track’ forms a loop going through wet ground at the lowest point of the reserve, before rejoining the middle track.  Near the junction there is a ‘platform’ where the slope flattens out, but it is impossible to say whether this is a charcoal burner’s platform or just a natural feature.  

Further up the middle track the path cuts through a hard rock face, about 80 cms. high, where a stream crosses the track.  It is possible that this could be man made, but equally it could be natural.  Near the top end of the middle track there is evidence of extensive cutting into the slope to create the path.

In conclusion, whilst there is evidence of tracks and other human activity in Croes Robert Wood, there is nothing that can be identified as being of any great age. The present management practice of the Trust does not threaten any historical or archaeological sites.

Bob Trett.

August 2005. 
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